
 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

 WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 WESTERN DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 

    Plaintiff, 

 

 v. 

 

STEPHEN S. DENNIS, 

[DOB: 07/07/1963] 

 

    Defendant. 

No. 

 

COUNT ONE 

18 U.S.C. § 1343 

Wire Fraud 
NMT 20 Years Imprisonment 

NMT $250,000.00 Fine 

NMT 3 Years Supervised Release 

Class C Felony 

 

$100 Mandatory Special Assessment 

 

I N F O R M A T I O N 
 

THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY CHARGES THAT: 

 

Introduction 

 

1. The defendant, Stephen S. Dennis, created an organization called “Matters of the 

Heart.”  On or about December 12, 2011, the defendant, as incorporator of Matters of the Heart, 

filed Articles of Incorporation with the Missouri Secretary of State thereby incorporating Matters 

of the Heart as a domestic nonprofit corporation under Chapter 355.025 of the Nonprofit 

Corporation Law of Missouri. 

2. In the Articles of Incorporation, the defendant listed himself as incorporator, 

registered agent, and one of the three directors of the board.  The defendant also listed B.S. and 

J.M. as the other two directors.  B.S. and J.M. had no knowledge that they were listed as 

directors, and at no time gave the defendant permission or authority to claim them as such.    

B.S. and J.M. have never served as directors on the Matters of the Heart board of directors. 
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3. The Articles of Incorporation claim that the “corporation is organized exclusively 

for charitable, educational, religious or scientific purposes within the meaning of Section 

501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.” 

4. From on or about December 12, 2011, to on or about November 29, 2013, the 

defendant Stephen S. Dennis devised a scheme and artifice to obtain funds owned by or under 

the custody or control of Citizens Bank in Overland Park, Kansas, a financial institution whose 

deposits during that time were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, by means 

of materially false or fraudulent pretenses. 

5. It was part of the scheme and artifice that the defendant solicited monetary 

donations from the International House of Prayer in Grandview, Missouri, to Matters of the 

Heart, and further, that the defendant falsely represented that Matters of the Heart was a tax 

exempt 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation. 

6. At all times relevant, Stephen Dennis knew that Matters of the Heart was never 

authorized to be a tax exempt 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation by the Internal Revenue Service 

(IRS).  Stephen Dennis never applied for 501(c)(3) tax exempt status with the IRS for Matters 

of the Heart, even though application instructions were given to Stephen Dennis on 

approximately December 12, 2011, by an attorney from whom he sought legal advice. 

7. At all times relevant, Stephen Dennis knew that Matters of the Heart never had 

the requisite number of directors, of at least 3, as required by law.  At all times relevant, only 

Stephen Dennis was a director of Matters of the Heart. 

8. At all times relevant, Stephen Dennis knew that Matters of the Heart never filed 

the requisite annual registration report with the Missouri Secretary of State.  On October 1, 

2012, Stephen Dennis was notified in writing by the Missouri Secretary of State that Matters of 
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the Heart would be administratively dissolved by the Missouri Secretary of State if an annual 

registration report for Matters of the Heart was not filed with the Missouri Secretary of State by 

November 30, 2012.  Stephen Dennis was notified in writing by the Missouri Secretary of State 

that Matter of the Heart had in fact been ”administratively dissolved” because of its failure “to 

comply with Section 355.706 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri (RSMo), by: Failure to file a 

correct and current annual report.”  

9. On or about September 3, 2012, the defendant obtained a $10,000 donation from 

the International House of Prayer for Matters of the Heart in which said funds were used for the 

defendant’s own personal use. 

10. On or about December 1, 2012, the defendant obtained a $25,000 donation from 

the International House of Prayer for Matters of the Heart in which said funds were used for the 

defendant’s own personal use. 

11. After obtaining the above listed $35,000, the defendant used these funds for his 

own personal benefit (i.e. his immediate family’s living expenses), rather than for any charitable, 

educational, religious or scientific purpose. 

COUNT ONE 

(Wire Fraud) 

 

 The Government re-alleges and incorporates by reference, the allegations in paragraphs 

one (1) through eleven (11) of this information. 

From on or about December 12, 2011, to on or about November 29, 2013, the defendant 

Stephen S. Dennis devised a scheme and artifice to obtain funds by means of materially false or 

fraudulent pretenses.  It was part of the scheme and artifice that the defendant solicited 
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monetary donations to a corporation called “Matters of the Heart” that the defendant falsely 

represented was a tax exempt 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation. 

On or about December 1, 2012, in the Western District of Missouri and elsewhere, 

defendant executed the scheme and artifice as set forth above, in that the defendant obtained 

check number 2065 written on the Citizens Bank Overland Park, Kansas, branch office business 

account of International House of Prayer Forerunner Christian Fellowship account ending in 

#3761 in the amount of $25,000, and deposited this check number 2065 into an account the 

defendant opened at Commerce Bank, Kansas City, Missouri, in the name of “Matters of The 

Heart Inc” account ending in #4867, which caused to be transmitted by means of wire 

communication in interstate commerce the signals and sounds conducting and reflecting the 

transfer of the $25,000 described above from the state of Kansas to the state of Missouri. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

 

Tammy Dickinson 

United States Attorney 

 

By /s/ Roseann A. Ketchmark 

 

Roseann A. Ketchmark 

Assistant United States Attorney 

 

DATED:  2-11-2014            

   Kansas City, Missouri 


